FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/20/2019 1:03 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/21/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97874-3

NO. 78343-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TANESSA DESRANLEAU, individually and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE of JAY'BREON DESRANLEAU;

Plaintiff-Respondents,

v.

HYLAND'S, INC., STANDARD HOMEPATHIC LABORATORIES, INC., and STANDARD HOMEPATHIC COMPANY, and MICHELLE REID,

Defendants-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Rodney L. Umberger, WSBA #24948 Ryan Vollans, WSBA # 45302 Williams Kastner, PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners are Hyland's Inc., Standard Homeopathic

Laboratories Inc., and Standard Homeopathic Company, Respondents in
the Court of Appeals, and Defendants in King County Superior Court.

Petitioners are referred to collectively hereafter as "Hyland's."

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its published opinion on October 21, 2019 . See Appendix 1-13. In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order dismissing plaintiff Tanessa Desranleau's (hereafter, "Plaintiff") product liability claim against Hyland's. In so doing, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's conclusion that Plaintiff failed to offer admissible evidence that decedent Jay'Breon Desranleau (hereafter, "Jay'Breon") was exposed to Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets (the specific Hyland's product that Plaintiff bases her claims in this lawsuit). Further, the Court of Appeals determined that Plaintiff's medical expert's declaration submitted in opposition to summary judgment, that of Dr. Marvin Pietruszka, contained admissible expert testimony regarding causation, such that medical causation should be presented to a jury for consideration.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals' published opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent and involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because it contradicts this State's precedent requiring expert opinions to have an adequate foundation in order to be admissible, and when the Court of Appeals abdicated the court's gatekeeping function to the jury such that the jury would be permitted to reach a verdict predicated on speculation.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' published opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent and involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the Court of Appeals' published opinion acknowledges that police investigative reports are inadmissible hearsay (citing *State v. Hines*, 87 Wn. App. 98, 941 P.2d 9 (1997)), but then concludes that information within said report creates a question of fact regarding exposure.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background and Summary Judgment.

Plaintiff's child, Jay'Breon, was found unresponsive in his crib with blankets covering his head on January 19, 2014. CP 399. Sadly, Jay'Breon was just thirteen (13) months old when he was found unresponsive and subsequently pronounced dead. Ms. Desranleau herself was not present for these events; she had not been Jay'Breon's caretaker

since an arrest in July of 2013. CP 415. Following his investigation of Jay'Breon's death, the Chief Medical Examiner did not attribute Jay'Breon's death to medications and did not express any concern regarding medications that Jay'Breon had purportedly been administered¹. CP 420-421. Jay'Breon's toxicology screen was unremarkable. CP 421.

This lawsuit followed, however, with Plaintiff alleging that
Jay'Breon's unfortunate passing was the result of ingesting one of
Hyland's homeopathic cold medicines. CP 367- 376. Specifically,
Plaintiff's lawsuit alleges that Jay'Breon's death was caused by Hyland's
Baby Tiny Cold Tablets. *Id.* Plaintiff's working theory is that Gelsemium
Sempervirens, an ingredient included in Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets
in truly minuscule amounts, was mistakenly included in the Hyland's
Baby Tiny Cold Tablets in lethal amounts and that it caused Jay'Breon's
untimely death. *Id.* Plaintiff's theory, without any evidence regarding the
actual levels of Gelsemium Sempervirens in the Hyland's tablets

_

¹ The Court of Appeals, reiterating an argument advanced by Plaintiff, states that King County's Chief Medical Examiner did not consider Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets as a potential cause of death because he did not have the same information that Plaintiff's expert had. Appendix at p. 10. There is no support in the record for this contention, which further suggests a result-oriented approach taken by the Court of Appeals. This contention assumes that Dr. Harruff did not review the police investigative materials and was unaware of any medications that were recovered from the scene. Not only is this contention pure supposition, but it is disparaging of Dr. Harruff to contend that he would not have considered medications that were purportedly administered to Jay'Breon leading up to his death, and it assumes what Dr. Harruff would have, or would not have, known or considered regarding any such medications.

Jay'Breon purportedly consumed or that the levels differed from the labeled miniscule amount, is nothing more than a farfetched theory lacking any factual support.

On summary judgment, Ms. Desranleau could not establish with admissible evidence that Jay'Breon took Hyland's homeopathic medicine that is the subject of Plaintiff's lawsuit, Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets, much less that they were the proximate cause of his death. CP 1296-1298. The trial court correctly rejected the hearsay-within-hearsay Plaintiff relied upon to argue an exposure, i.e., an out-of-court statement made by the father's girlfriend (Ms. Reid²) to another third party (the police), and then put into the police's investigative report. *Id.* As such, the trial court determined that there was no admissible evidence that Jay'Breon even consumed a Hyland's product. Further, the medical opinion regarding causation that Plaintiff relied on at summary judgment was purely speculative without an adequate foundation. Plaintiff submitted the declaration of Dr. Marvin Pietruszka in opposition to summary judgment, and he opined that Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets caused Jay'Breon's death. CP 681-789. Yet, Dr. Pietruszka's declaration testimony is conclusory, speculative and lacks any factual foundation. See generally,

² Ms. Reid is a named defendant to this lawsuit, but she never appeared or participated in any way in this litigation. Jay'Breon's biological father is not a party to this litigation, and he too has not participated in the litigation in any way.

id. The speculative and inadmissible nature of Dr. Pietruszka's declaration testimony was highlighted on summary judgment *see* CP 339-342, 345-350, 855-856, 924-1261, 505-676, 1262-1290. In the end, the trial court granted summary judgment, dismissing all claims against Hyland's. CP 1296-1298.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals' Reversal And Remand of Plaintiff's Product Liability Claim.</u>

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal of Plaintiff's product liability claims³. Appendix 1-13. In so doing, the Court of Appeals determined that there was admissible evidence from which Jay'Breon's exposure to Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets could be inferred. *Id.* The Court of Appeals also determined that Plaintiff's medical expert's declaration on summary judgment contained admissible expert testimony, creating a question of fact regarding causation. *Id.*

On both issues (*i.e.*, admissible evidence of exposure and the admissibility of Dr. Pietruszka's opinions as contained in his declaration), the Court of Appeals' determinations are deeply flawed. First, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that all of Ms. Reid's statements regarding what medications she administered to Jay'Breon were inadmissible hearsay, and the Court of Appeals observed that the police

³ The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of both Plaintiff's CPA claim and her request for punitive damages through the application of California law. Appendix 1-13.

statements was also inadmissible hearsay. Appendix at p. 6-8 (citing, inter alia, State v. Hines, 87 Wn. App. 98, 941 P.2d 9 (1997).

Inexplicably, the Court of Appeals nonetheless determined that other information contained within the same inadmissible police investigative report—beyond Ms. Reid's inadmissible statements—provided sufficient circumstantial evidence from which an exposure to a Hyland's product could be inferred. Id. at p. 8-9. To be clear, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the inadmissible investigative report contained sufficient admissible evidence to defeat Hyland's motion for summary judgment on the issue of an exposure. Id. The Court of Appeals' conclusion in this regard is in direct contrast with established precedent, precedent which the Court of Appeals' recognized and cited to no less.

Next, the Court of Appeals' treatment of Plaintiff's proffered medical expert's declaration was also perplexing and in conflict with this Court's established precedent requiring expert testimony to have a sufficient factual foundation in order to be admissible. Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Pietruszka, does not set forth any medical, toxicological, or scientific facts that form the basis of his case specific opinions. CP 681-789. It is inaccurate to even characterize Dr. Pietruszka's declaration testimony as

"junk science"; it simply does not involve science. The following omissions from Dr. Pietruszka's declaration are undisputed:

- Dr. Pietruszka does not identify any peer-reviewed studies concerning Gelsemium Sempervirens and its effects that he relies upon;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not state whether he had any knowledge of Gelsemium Sempervirens prior to this lawsuit, and whether he has any knowledge regarding it from sources other than Wikipedia and drugs.com;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not identify any peer-reviewed literature that he relies upon for his opinions regarding Gelsemium Sempervirens;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not identify a single medical or toxicological fact pertaining to Jay'Breon in his declaration that, according to him, supports a conclusion that Gelsemium Sempervirens caused Jay'Breon's death;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not discuss or identify any toxicological facts with regard to the level at which Gelsemium Sempervirens is known to be lethal;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not state whether he is familiar with any deaths reported as a result of Gelsemium Sempervirens;
- Dr. Pietruszka does not state whether the level of Gelsemium Sempervirens indicated on the label for Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets is a lethal amount (he suggests that said amount would be safe);
- Dr. Pietruszka does not state what amount of Gelsemium Sempervirens he believes actually ended up in any Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets;
- In contravention of CR 56(e), Dr. Pietruszka does not attach copies of any medical records or toxicological records that he is relying upon in this case;

• Dr. Pietruszka did not state why it is more likely that a Hyland's product caused Jay'Breon's death as opposed to an illness, Children's Tylenol, suffocation, an undiagnosed congenital heart defect, or any other potential cause of death.

CP 681-789.

Yet, the Court of Appeals reasoned that Dr. Pietruszka's lack of foundation were "factual contentions" for a jury to consider. Appendix at p. 9-10. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals determined that Dr. Pietruszka's declaration contained admissible expert testimony that created a question of fact for the jury. *Id.* In so doing, the Court of Appeals adopted a "let it all in approach" and positioned that a lack of any foundation is merely a credibility issue. Hyland's did not have contentions regarding the factual foundation for Dr. Pietruszka's declaration; Hyland's pointed out that the declaration lacked any factual foundation. This distinction is critical.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals' published opinion necessitated casting aside well-established and well-reasoned legal precedent, which presents issues of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court, as well as legal conclusions that are in conflict with this Court's precedent regarding hearsay and the foundational requirements for expert testimony.

1. The Court of Appeals' Ruling On Expert Testimony Conflicts With This Court's Precedent and It Involves An Issue of Substantial Importance.

It has long been the law in Washington that, "[i]t is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." *Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath*, 63 Wn. App. 170, 177, 817 P.2d 861 (1991); *see also, Simmons v. City of Othello*, 199 Wn. App. 384, 399 P.3d 546 (2017) (an opinion must be supported by sufficient foundational facts. "Where there is no basis for the expert opinion other than theoretical speculation, the expert testimony should be excluded.") (internal citation omitted). Ignoring the aforementioned legal requirements that Washington recognizes, the Court of Appeals states the following:

But Hyland's bases its argument on fact based questions—such as whether Dr. Pietruszka relied on improper information in reaching his conclusion, and whether he adhered to the proper scientific method. This indicates that material questions of fact remain as to whether Dr. Pietruszka's opinions properly conclude that Hyland's products caused Jay'Breon's death.

App. at p. 9.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning is troubling for several reasons. First, the Court of Appeals expressly delegates its gatekeeping function to the jury (*e.g.*, "whether he adhered to the proper scientific method," and whether Dr. Pietruszka "relied on improper [inadmissible?] information in

reaching his conclusion" are for a jury). This State's jurisprudence is clear that these determinations are reserved for the judge, not for a jury to speculate about. The Court of Appeals' "let it all in" approach contradicts this State's evidentiary rules and jurisprudence under *Frye*, determinations of admissibility, and foundation. Indeed, this Court has explicitly confirmed that questions regarding whether an expert has an adequate foundation is within the province of the court, not the jury. *See Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 357, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) (Before allowing an expert to render an opinion, the trial court must find that there is an adequate foundation so that an opinion is not mere speculation, conjecture, or misleading. It is the proper function of the trial court to scrutinize the expert's underlying information and determine whether it is sufficient to form an opinion on the relevant issue); *see also* ER 102 and 104(a).

Dr. Pietruszka flatly does not present any information, documentation, or support for his opinions specific to this case and Jay'Breon's cause of death. CP 681-789. Dr. Pietruszka's declaration represents a total dearth of any factual foundation for his case specific opinions, and the Court of Appeals is mistaken in its characterization that these are "fact based questions" or credibility issues for a jury. This is not

a disagreement over facts, it is pointing out the absence of facts and a foundation.

In *McGrath*, the issue was the admissibility of expert testimony concerning the effects of alcohol on individuals, and as to the individual at issue in the litigation. McGrath, 63 Wn. App. 170. The court in McGrath recognized that the effects of alcohol on individuals' ability to operate motor vehicles, and the science involved in this assessment, has been the subject of extensive scientific research, which provides experts with an adequate foundation to opine on how a given number of measured alcoholic drinks over a given amount of time affects a drivers' ability to operate a motor vehicle. *Id.* at 178. The court notes that without such a scientific basis, there would be an inadequate foundation for an expert to offer an opinion on the issue (effects of alcohol on one's ability to operate a motor vehicle). *Id.* However, even with the aforementioned extensive scientific research on the effects of alcohol on one's ability to operate a motor vehicle, this research did not provide a foundation for the expert's opinion that McGrath's consumption of alcohol rendered him unable to form the intent to commit a crime. *Id.* at 178-179. As the court pointed out, the expert's opinion in this regard (unable to form intent) would need a separate foundation than studies pertaining to alcohol's effect on one's ability to operate a motor vehicle. And because the expert did not have a

foundation to support that conclusion (that McGrath was unable to form intent), it was an abuse of discretion to admit the expert's testimony on that issue. *Id* at 179. *See also Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 603, 260 P.3d 857(2011) (plaintiff's expert could properly rely on an extensive study on the effects of organic solvents on pregnancy to opine that the plaintiff's child's injuries were attributable to exposure to solvents).

Here, there are no studies, toxicological findings or medical findings relied upon by Dr. Pietruszka to support his opinions in this case. This is undisputed, and the Court of Appeals mistook the lack of any foundation for credibility questions. In a case dealing with issues of toxicity, Dr. Pietruszka's declaration does not contain a single reference to toxicity levels, nor does he rely on any identified medical findings in this case⁴. Under Washington's aforementioned precedent, it would be reversible error to present this case to a jury based on Dr. Pietruszka's

-

⁴ Dr. Pietruszka raises a concern in his declaration regarding the use of Gelsemium Sempervirens in young children due to renal development. CP 687. Yet, Dr. Pietruszka does not address the fact that Jay'Breon's adrenal, thyroid and pituitary glands were examined during the autopsy and nothing was identified as being remarkable. *Id.*; CP 468. Indeed, Dr. Pietruszka does not discuss any findings from the autopsy or toxicology screen performed in this case that are relevant to his opinions; he only states that no such investigation could disprove his speculative theory of causation. CP 687. Such a contention should dictate that a proper foundation is even more crucial here; it should not dispense with the foundational requirement.

testimony, and this Court should accept review of the issue prior to a jury getting to speculate on Dr. Pietruszka's baseless opinions.

Dr. Pietruszka's opinions in this case rest on Plaintiff's theory that unintended levels of Gelsemium Sempervirens could somehow get into Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets, which he bases on correspondence from the FDA concerning another Hyland's product. This is a fine working theory for Plaintiff to argue that a Hyland's product *could* have included higher than intended levels of an ingredient. But what evidence does Plaintiff or her expert present in this case that this **did** occur here? None. Juries do not get to speculate about baseless theories. Sanchez v. Haddix, 95 Wn.2d 593, 599, 627 P.2d 1312 (1981). For instance, Dr. Pietruszka does not state that the tablets are marketed as containing "X" amount of Gelsemium Sempervirens, but based on his analysis/study — or the analysis/study of someone else — they actually contain "Y" amount of Gelsemium Sempervirens. Dr. Pietruszka's declaration testimony is nothing more than a repackaging of Plaintiff's litigation theory, unsupported by actual facts, science, or medicine. Dr. Pietruszka does not even state whether Gelsemium Sempervirens is present in finished Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets at levels capable of detection.

Dr. Pietruszka claims that an email containing a "Risk Calculation for Gelsemium Sempervirens" from a Wilfried Stock, Ph.D. is

"confirmatory" to his conclusions in this case. CP 687, 700-701. Put differently, the email does not even serve as the basis for Dr. Pietruszka's opinions, it just solidifies them, according to Dr. Pietruszka. But a review of the email demonstrates that it could not serve as the foundation for a medical/toxicological opinion that a homeopathic cold remedy caused a specific death, which is a highly unusual claim to be sure. The excerpt from the "risk calculation" upon which Dr. Pietruszka places reliance is the statement that, "Since Gelsemium is not a typical drug for small children it should only be applied under the control of a homeopathic physician or a naturopath." CP 687, 701. Based on this statement, an "expert" could state that any time—whether or not this statement is true a medication is not a "typical" drug for a child and the child subsequently dies after consuming it, the consumed drug is most likely the cause of a specific death. Such a conclusion is without regard to other possible causes of death, and no science or medical training is required to reach said conclusion. The kind of reasoning deployed by Dr. Pietruszka does not reflect the slightest notion of medical training, expertise or a factual foundation supporting his case specific causation testimony. Notably, the "risk calculation" does present a discussion of Gelsemium Sempervirens at various doses. CP 701. Dr. Pietruszka, however, does not even

mention or address any of these doses, nor does he discuss Gelsemium Sempervirens or its effects relative to dose in any regard. CP 681-789.

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