FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/27/2019 1:22 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/4/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97874-3

### NO. 78343-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TANESSA DESRANLEAU, individually and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE of JAY'BREON DESRANLEAU,

Appellants,

v.

### HYLAND'S, INC., STANARD HOMEPATHIC LABORATORIES, INC., and STANDARD HOMEPATHIC COMPANY, and MICHELLE REID,

Respondents.

### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

### I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant/plaintiff Tanessa Desranleau submits this memorandum in opposition to Hyland's petition for discretionary review. Nothing about Hyland's arguments or this case justify granting review under RAP 13.4. This is a straightforward case wherein Hyland's was caught by the FDA selling tainted baby medicines. In this case, discovery revealed that the manufacturing processes that were faulty in the originally recalled medicine that killed babies extended to other product lines including the medicine ingested by the deceased child in this case. By way of expert testimony, Ms. Desrenleau will prove at trial that when a dead baby with a cold is found next to an open bottle of basically poison pills, it is reasonable for a jury to infer that the poison pills killed the baby. The Court of Appeals agreed.

#### **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On January 18, 2014, Jay'Breon was found dead in his crib.<sup>1</sup> At the time, Jay'Breon was under the care of his birth father, Jimi Williams, and his girlfriend, co-defendant Michelle Reid.<sup>2</sup> The police investigation revealed that Jay'Breon had been administered successive doses of Hyland's Tiny Cold Tablets immediately prior to his death.<sup>3</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 334-61: (Hyland's MSJ, Page 4 Lines 1-2)

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 334-61: (Hyland's MSJ Page 3 Lines 18-20; Declaration Umberger: Exhibit 3 (Hyland's 000026))

investigation file reveals that Jay'Breon was also administered other over the counter medications such as Tylenol and Vick's vapor rub.<sup>4</sup> Ms. Reid admitted to the investigating officers the amount and quantity of tablets that were given to Jay'Breon.<sup>5</sup> There is no dispute but that Jay'Breon ingested Hyland's Tiny Cold Tablets.<sup>6</sup> Hyland's admitted that the Cold Tablets were collected at the crime scene.<sup>7</sup>

During the proceedings below, Hyland's submitted the Federal Way Police Department report containing multiple declarations of investigating officers.<sup>8</sup> One of the officers, R. Franco, swore under oath that co-defendant Michelle Reid informed Officer Franco of the assorted medicines that Ms. Reid administered to Jay'Breon, and Officer Franco then collected the evidence:

\* \* \*

Michelle was sitting outside on the curb in the parking as I spoke with her. Michelle appeared distraught and visibly upset. Michelle said Jaybreon had been sick the past 2 days with a chest congestion. Michelle said that she had given him 2 tablets of infant cold medicine, prior to him Infant Tylenol (medications were recovered from Michelle and booked in to evidence) at 0600 hrs. Michelle said she left the room with Jaybreon sleeping on his back.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 1378-79: (Declaration of Detective Adrienne); CP 362-504: (Declaration of Umberger: Exhibit 3, Hyland's 000026 (Sworn Federal Way Investigation Report).) <sup>6</sup> *Id*.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 224-333: (Declaration of Umberger, Exhibit 3: Docket No. 55C)

I CERTIFY UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON THAT ALL STATEMENTS MADE HEREIN ARE TRUE AND ACCURATE AND THAT I AM ENTERING MY AUTHORIZED USER ID AND PASSWORD TO AUTHENTICATE IT (RCW 9A.72.085).

Electronically Signed: Yes	Signature: R. Franco #188
Federal Way/King/Washington	Date:01/19/14
	9

Subsequently, the evidence that was collected by Officer Franco was conveyed to counsel for Hyland's as certified by Rodney Umberger:

11. On October 18, 2017, my office received from Federal Way Police Detectives a sealed evidence can containing the Hyland's Tiny Cold Tablets that were collected as evidence by the Federal Way Police Department during their investigation of Jay'Breon's death. The Hyland's Tiny Cold Tablets that my office received from the Federal Way Police Department remain in the sealed evidence container.

10

The Federal Way Police Department's conveyance of the residual tablets to Ms. Umberger proves that the medicines were those collected by Officer Franco in response to Ms. Reid indications about administering the product.<sup>11</sup> During this litigation, Hyland's argued that the residual pills were representative of the quantities of the product that Jay'Breon ingested.<sup>12</sup> Based upon this evidence, including (1) Ms. Reid's admissions to Officer Franco coupled with (2) the actual evidence/medicine collected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Id.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  CP 362-504 (Declaration of Umberger dated January 24, 2018, Paragraph 11: Docket No. 85)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 224-333: (Docket Nos. 55B-60)

at the scene, and also (3) Hyland's possession of the residual packaging that was obtained from the Federal Way Police Department, in accord with CR 56, there is ample evidence upon which to infer that Jay'Breon ingested a portion of the pills collected at the evidence scene.

In relation to Hyland's products, the company develops and produces homeopathic "medicines" that are marketed all throughout the world.<sup>13</sup> All of the relevant manufacturing, regulating, testing, and monitoring of the products occurs in California.<sup>14</sup> Hyland's markets other products that have been recalled from store shelves, most notably Hyland's Teething Tablets.<sup>15</sup> The Teething Tablets have been associated with multiple deaths of small children. Hyland's maintains that the Teething Tablets could not possibly have been the cause of the deaths, but removed them from store shelves regardless.<sup>16</sup> Other products, such as the Cold Tablets at issue, remain on sale for the general public in multiple countries throughout the world.<sup>17</sup>

For several years, Hyland's has been monitored and admonished by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for failing to adhere to safe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 362-504: (Declaration of Umberger: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000071-75)

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Id. <sup>16</sup> Id.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  Id.

ш.

production practices.<sup>18</sup> Documents revealed during discovery confirm that at least as early as May 14, 2012, Hyland's was on notice that the production processes were resulting in the sale of toxic homeopathic products to the public for the administration upon infant populations.<sup>19</sup> Specifically, the FDA admonished Hyland's in relation to the Teething Tablets noting that dangerous levels of alkaloids ("belladonna" in the Teething Tablets) survived the production process at unsafe "concentration levels."<sup>20</sup> The FDA warned Hyland's CEO, J.P. Borneman, directly.<sup>21</sup> Subsequent inspections proved that the problems were systemic and branched out between the entire Hyland's product line.<sup>22</sup> The FDA continued to notify CEO Borneman of the same un-remediated violations of product safety and labeling standards as recently as September 1, 2017.<sup>23</sup>

At least as early as May of 2012, the FDA put Hyland's CEO, Borneman, on notice that the deficiencies associated with the Teething Tablets was not limited to only that specific product line: "you have not provided evidence that you have extended your corrective actions to other products intended for use in in infants and children that are derived from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id*.  $^{20}$  *Id*.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000071-75)  $^{23}$  *Id*.

potentially toxic compounds..."24 The FDA further noted that the production processes in place do "not appear to evaluate the potential impact of the blend particle size and the distribution on the overall product potency."<sup>25</sup> "DPA's work identified different concentrations of alkaloid on different particle sizes of lactose and there is a potential for stratification to occur in a bland over extended hold times."<sup>26</sup> "Therefore, our concerns remains that your manufacturing process does not have adequate controls."27

A key ingredient contained within Cold Tablets is a plant, Gelsemium Sempervirens, also an alkaloid.<sup>28</sup> At least as early as May of 2012, the FDA warned Hyland's of the dangers associated with Gelsemium Sempervirens, and that products including this ingredient likely suffered the same production deficiencies as the Teething Tablets.<sup>29</sup> The FDA noted that "All parts of Gelsemium Sempervirens (Carolina Jessamine) contain the toxic alkaloids gelsemine and gelseminine. Both human and animal poisoning cases, including deaths, have been reported."<sup>30</sup> Many other commonly available resources confirm the toxic dangers associated with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046) <sup>26</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka, Pages 2-4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000047)

Gelsemium Sempervirens.<sup>31</sup> A consulting expert with Hyland's noted that infant renal development raises serious Gelsemium Sempervirens ingestion concerns.<sup>32</sup>

Hyland's relies upon a process of heavy ingredient dilution in order to ensure the purported safety of the assorted products.<sup>33</sup> When diluted correctly, the dilution process results in miniscule amounts of the "active ingredients" (such as alkaloids) so as to prove relatively pointless and ineffective.<sup>34</sup> Hyland's production process has proven faulty, as noted by the FDA.<sup>35</sup> Specifically, the dilution process has not always been effective resulting in "stratification" of the alkaloids – meaning dangerously high and inconsistent quantities as between product tablets.<sup>36</sup> The FDA, and prior occurrences, focused upon the inconsistent levels of alkaloids appearing with the Teething Tablets.<sup>37</sup> The discovery process has revealed (in the form of a binding CR 30(b)(6) deposition of Hyland's Vice President of Quality Control Eric Baier) that the product process of the Teething Tablets versus the Cold Tablets differs in only one way, the Cold Tablets are not as heavily diluted:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 362-504: (Declaration of Umberger: Exhibit 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 677-680: (Declaration of Baier)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000046-48)

Q. Okay. So the – you've identified differences in the degrees of dilution in relation to the Teething Tablets as compared to the Cold Tablets; is that fair?

A. Yes.

- Q. Any other differences?
- A. In the manufacture? No.<sup>38</sup>

Further discovery revealed that as of an FDA inspection that occurred in the fall of 2016, Hyland's failed to implement appropriate corrective measures.<sup>39</sup> The FDA noted that, "Because your methods, facilities, or controls for manufacturing, processing, packing, or holding do not conform to CGMP, your drug products are adulterated within the meaning of section 501(a)(2)(B) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act), 21 U.S.C. 351(a)(2)(B)."<sup>40</sup> The FDA "collected and analyzed samples of some of your drug products…and…found that the alkaloid content far exceeded the claim on your label….The testing found inconsistency in levels of belladonna, a toxic substance, and reveals that your manufacturing process is poorly controlled and may pose unnecessary risks to infants and children. These test results demonstrate that your

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP 722-811: (Declaration of Beauregard: Exhibit 2 (Deposition of Eric Baier, Pages 80-81))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000071-75)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Id.

*manufacturing process validation was inadequate to ensure that your drugs are uniform character and quality.*<sup>"41</sup> The FDA documented Hyland's admission that the same manufacturing process extends across product lines.<sup>42</sup> The FDA also noted that failure to conduct mandatory annual product safety reviews.<sup>43</sup> And the FDA also noted many federal statutory misbranding violations.<sup>44</sup>

Prior to filing this lawsuit, Ms. Desranleau retained an expert witness, Marvin Pietruszka, M.D., to review the potential causes of Jay'Breon's death.<sup>45</sup> Dr. Pietruszka reviewed the available information and concluded, in the fall of 2016, that the ingestion of Hyland's Cold Tablets was the likely cause of Jay'Breon's death.<sup>46</sup> Prior to Dr. Pietruszka's confirmation, Ms. Desranleau was not aware, and had no way of suspecting, that the Cold Tablets were the issue.<sup>47</sup> On January 3, 2017, Ms. Desranleau promptly filed this lawsuit, and included a claim for punitive damages.<sup>48</sup> Ms. Desranleau bases these allegations upon the entirety of the evidence including Hyland's ongoing faulty manufacturing processes as have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000073)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> CP 362-504: (Declaration of Umberger: Exhibit 9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka, *Generally*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> CP 812: (Declaration of Desranleau)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CP 362-504: (Declaration of Umberger: Exhibit 1)

ongoing for many years, including at least as late as 2016.<sup>49</sup> The FDA informed Hyland's of the serious safety deficiencies – selling variable levels of known lethal toxins to infants under the guise of safe medicine – at least as early as 2012.<sup>50</sup> The manufacturing problem was never fixed.<sup>51</sup>

The discovery process has revealed further alarming information about Hyland's Cold Tiny Cold Tablets.<sup>52</sup> The CEO of Hyland's, J.P. Borneman, undertook an individual consultation with an authority in the field of homeopathic medicines, Wilfried Stock, PhD.<sup>53</sup> Dr. Stock is the head of the toxicology and safety committee for the organization which is considered the leading authority regarding the production of homeopathic medicines: the Homeopathic Pharmacopeia Convention of the United States (*a.k.a.* HPUS).<sup>54</sup> According to Dr. Stock, products containing Gelsemium Sempervirens should not be given to small children in the absence of physician supervision.<sup>55</sup> In a "*Risk Calculation*" sent directly to CEO Borneman, Dr. Stock referenced other resources indicative that Gelsemium Sempervirens is "**No longer considered safe**" in any quantity, and should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1, Hyland's 000071-75)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Id. <sup>51</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 3; Declaration of Beauregard); CP 722-811: (Exhibit 2 (Deposition of Baier, Page 30))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> CP 722-811: (Declaration of Beauregard: Exhibit 2 (Deposition of Baier, Page 31))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> CP 681-708: (Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 3)

not be given to anyone, for any reason.<sup>56</sup> Vice President Baier indicated that Hyland's disagrees with Dr. Stock, and does not follow his recommendations, in relation to Gelsemium Sempervirens consumption: "*I'm not exactly sure of the context of that statement, but Hyland's would not agree that Gelsemium is not a typical drug for small children. We're a hundred year old company – plus and we have a lot of experience with infant formulas. And it's been our experience that Gelsemium is not unsafe for small children."<sup>57</sup>*

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